
Date Published:28 August 2020     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 8 September 2020 at 10.00 am

AGENDA

ORGANISATION ITEMS

1  APOLOGIES Laura Powick

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2020. 

Laura Powick

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Laura Powick

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  COVID-19 TESTING IN CARE HOMES (Pages 11 - 20)

To consider a joint report on COVID-19 testing in care homes, including 
amongst domiciliary care workers.

Margaret 
Willcox OBE, 
Sarah Scott

DIRECTORS' REPORTS

5  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 
(Pages 21 - 26)

Margaret 
Willcox OBE

6  DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT (Pages 27 - 32)

To include an update on Homelessness. 

Sarah Scott

7  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 33 - 42) Wayne 
Bowcock



    

8  PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 1 2020/21 (Pages 43 - 50) Wayne 
Bowcock, 
Sarah Scott, 
Margaret 
Willcox OBE

WORK PLANNING

9  WORK PLAN (Pages 51 - 52)

To review the Committee work plan for 2020/21 (work plan attached).

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

Membership –  Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chair), Cllr Andrew Gravells, Cllr Terry Hale, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair), Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Brian Robinson and 
Cllr Steve Robinson 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring 
Officer, (Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to 
the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

 

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee held on Tuesday 7 July 2020 commencing at 10.00 am at the .

PRESENT

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Andrew Gravells
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Jeremy Hilton

Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair)
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Steve Robinson

Substitutes:

In attendance: Margaret Willcox, Executive Director of Adult Social Care
Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health
Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer
Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services
Cllr Carole Allaway- Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning
Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities
Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking 
and Libraries
Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery

Apologies:

29. APOLOGIES 

There were no apologies at the meeting. 

30. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2020 were agreed and signed by the 
Chair, subject to the following amendment at page 6, agenda item 26, paragraph 
26.7, where it should read:

‘Members were also informed that the suicide rate per 100,000 had risen slightly in 
the last quarter and so was slightly above the target set.  The target aimed to focus 
efforts to deliver an incremental decrease in the number of deaths by suicide. It was 
explained that additional money had been received in the Council budget to tackle 
suicide rates in the County, which would enable initiatives to continue to be 
developed.’

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

31. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr Jeremy Hilton declared a personal interest as his partner worked in a care 
home. 

32. SUPPORT TO CARE HOMES DURING COVID-19 

32.1  Margaret Willcox, Executive Director of Adult Social Care, presented a report 
detailing the support provided to care homes in Gloucestershire during the COVID-
19 outbreak.

32.2 The Committee was advised that care homes had been provided with practical 
guidance and advice, PPE and the training on how to use it, as well as financial 
support. Notably, the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning had 
delegated authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care to award 
payments to care providers from the Infection Control Fund. It was noted that local 
authorities were now being asked nationally to consider how to resume normal 
ways of working, such as the provision of day services. 

32.3 One member queried what was being done to ensure that care home and agency 
staff received sick leave pay, to prevent staff feeling compelled to attend work when 
ill. In response, it was explained that, as part of the financial offer from the Council, 
care providers were asked to pass on some of the funding to their front line staff, 
however most had not done this. The Council had ensured that statutory sick pay 
was being honoured, and that it continued to offer care homes advice and 
guidance. Additionally, members were advised that levels of staff sickness in care 
homes resulting from COVID-19 across the County had generally been low.

32.4 Another member drew attention to the fact that, as of 16 June 2020, 79 care home 
settings had been affected by COVID-19 within Gloucestershire, and between 10 
April and 12 June, there had been over 200 COVID-19 suspected deaths in care 
homes in the County. They queried whether care homes should have entered into 
lockdown sooner, the lack of testing carried out by hospitals before discharging 
patients into care homes, the lack of testing for staff and residents in care homes, 
and the lack of a local pandemic management plan. They sought reassurance that 
measures were being taken to protect care homes in event of a second spike of 
coronavirus cases. 

32.5 In response, Margaret Willcox explained that national guidance for care homes 
going into lockdown had been followed, hospitals had behaved responsibly when 
discharging patients into care homes, and, on the whole, care homes had been 
compliant with PPE practice. It was noted that there had not been a shortage of 
PPE within the County, and that the Council’s good relationships with local care 
providers had paid off during this time. It was also noted that people in care homes 
had a high level of need, with most residents living in care for between 18 and 24 
months on average, and therefore care homes would have seen a number of 
deaths during this time anyway.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

32.6 Furthermore, Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health, explained that at the start of 
the outbreak, there had not been a specific management plan for COVID-19 as it 
had not existed prior to December 2019; however they had followed the local plan 
for flu outbreak due to the initial similarities between the viruses. With regards to 
testing, it was explained that in early June, every care home for dementia and over 
65s within the County had been offered testing, and that the first tests as part of the 
new care home testing strategy would be going out from the beginning of the next 
week. Officers cautioned against complacency as a result of increased testing in 
care homes, emphasising the continued importance of social distancing, hand 
washing and the use of PPE.

32.7 One member queried whether care home residents were able to refuse being 
tested. It was confirmed that residents did have the right to refuse testing, although 
the Government’s approach was that it was an individual’s civic responsibility to be 
tested, and that it would be useful for care homes to understand who had tested 
positive or negative for COVID-19.

32.8 The Committee was made aware that some agency staff had refused to enter 
COVID-19 positive care homes in Gloucestershire, which had affected relationships 
between care homes and agencies, and had led some homes to change the way 
they consolidated their staffing arrangements. Members were also informed that the 
Council had had to intervene and offer training to some homes in response to 
reports of failure to use or incorrect usage of PPE.

32.9 One member asked whether the pandemic had impacted on the perception of care 
homes, and therefore impact the number of people going into care homes. It was 
queried whether more people would choose to stay in the community for care and 
whether this would lead to a strain on community services. 

32.10 Margaret Willcox explained that in Gloucestershire, fifty percent of residents in care 
homes were self funded. A number of care homes were now beginning to admit 
new residents provided that they were tested and self isolated for 14 days where 
necessary. She acknowledged that nationally and locally, people had been 
frightened by the deaths in care homes, and that the change to a more clinical 
approach to care due to the pandemic had also impacted perceptions. The 
Committee noted that this could lead to a significant change in the care services 
provided and commissioned. It was also noted, however, that there had been a 
drop in demand for domiciliary care as people had been reluctant to have others in 
their homes, although this was expected to level back up.   

32.11 In response to a query regarding antibody testing for care home staff, it was 
explained that antibody testing had initially been offered to NHS staff in hospitals, 
however around 400 front line social workers had been offered an antibody test. It 
was noted that going forward the ambition was to try and roll antibody testing out 
further, however the results would be more useful for research on how COVID-19 
had moved through the population, rather than for individual benefit, as it was not 
clear how long antibodies protected people for. 

33. IMPACT AND CHANGES TO GFRS DELIVERY AS A RESULT OF COVID-19 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

33.1 Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer, provided a verbal update to the Committee on 
the impact and changes to Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) 
delivery as a result of COVID-19.

33.2 It was noted that there had been increased availability of GFRS resources, as 
during the lockdown into and throughout May 2020, there had been a reduction in 
the number of incidents responded to in comparison to the previous year. The 
number of 999 calls to the fire control room had been down 22 percent, and the 
number of incidents responded to reduced by 17 percent. There had been a 13 
percent reduction in fires and a 71 percent reduction in the number of road traffic 
collisions in the County at the height of lockdown. It was noted, however, that where 
there had been collisions, these had tended to be severe due to the speed of 
vehicles and quietness of roads. Since the phased release of lockdown, demand 
had returned to within 5 percent of expected normal demand.

33.3 The Committee was informed that due to lockdown restrictions, the number of safe 
and well visits carried out had been reduced, which had led to a backlog of around 
500 safe and well visits. It was noted that GFRS had continued to undertake safe 
and well visits with PPE to those identified as high risk. It was also noted that 3 
fixed term additional community safety advisers would be brought in to address the 
back log. 

33.4 It was explained that the fire safety audit process had to be changed to a desktop 
audit process due to lockdown constraints. 300 desktop audits had been carried 
out; however some of these premises would still require a physical visit. 
Furthermore, the regional training centre had closed during lockdown, which had 
impacted on the delivery of core training; however a trainee firefighter course had 
continued to run with social distancing and other measures where social distancing 
was not possible.

33.5 It was explained that GFRS had contributed to the COVID-19 response in 
Gloucestershire by providing logistical support, as well as personnel and training in 
support of other organisations. The Committee understood that the level of 
additional work undertaken by GFRS in response to the pandemic went beyond the 
Tripartite Agreement that had been agreed by the National Fire Chiefs Council, Fire 
and Rescue Services National Employers, and the Fire Brigades Union, highlighting 
the willingness of the work force to support other Council service areas, such as 
adult social care, public health and children’s services, as well as the value of the 
positive relationships between GFRS and these services areas.

33.6 In particular, GFRS had contributed to storing and distributing PPE; delivered food 
parcels to vulnerable residents; managed the temporary house of rest and 
mortuary; supported the testing facility at Oxstalls; delivered and collected testing 
kits to care homes; trained other blue light organisations in the use of P3 
respirators; and delivered training to care homes and domiciliary care workers on 
PPE and effective infection control. Additionally, GFRS was supplying trained 
drivers and medically trained firefighters to support the South West Ambulance 
Service. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

33.7 The Committee was informed that the costs of the response to the pandemic were 
likely to be offset by the savings associated with pay, reduction in demand and 
savings for normal overheads. However it was noted that GFRS was in the process 
of submitting a request for reimbursement from a home office grant scheme. 

33.8 The Committee noted that a review of the degradation plan had been carried out, 
which provided a detailed plan as to how GFRS resources could be managed in the 
event of increased pressures, such as a second wave of Covid-19 infections. 

33.9 In response to a query relating to GFRS support to the South West Ambulance 
Service, it was explained that at the height of lockdown, ambulance demand had 
been down 25 percent of normal levels, and that due to the requirement to carry out 
rapid risk assessments, the South West Ambulance Service had stopped mobilising 
GFRS staff to any medical emergency for two weeks.

33.10 Members thanked GFRS staff for all their hard work and the level of response that 
had been provided during the pandemic.

34. DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

34.1 Margaret Willcox presented the Executive Director of Adult Social Care Report, 
highlighting, in particular, that the Adult Single Programme had continued to explore 
the role of technology in social care; staff had responded well to the move to a 7 
day working week, with 12 hour shifts; and despite day services being suspended 
during the lockdown, staff had continued to visit people in homes, collected 
medicine and food, and provided respite for families. She advised that in some local 
authority areas, services had shut down completely during the lockdown and 
therefore she was proud of Gloucestershire for continuing to support residents. 

34.2 One member questioned whether the allocation of the Supplier Relief Fund had 
provided the opportunity to look at contracts with care providers to ensure that they 
were treating staff well, such as by providing sick pay or ensuring domiciliary care 
staff had enough time to travel between homes. In response, it was explained that 
contractual arrangements were reviewed, and income tax returns checked annually, 
however GCC was not in a legal position to enforce pay rates for staff. 

34.3 One member asked about support for the homeless, now that hotels were 
beginning to reopen following lockdown, whilst another member commented that 
the use of hotels was a temporary measure that needed to be addressed moving 
forward. Sarah Scott explained that a COVID-19 emergency housing protocol had 
been developed which had commissioned 3 hotels to house the homeless for 12 
weeks. There had been 333 placements at the time the report was written, and 
despite some placements breaking down, and some people still sleeping rough, the 
aspiration was to work with the districts to provide suitable longer term 
accommodation. Work was also ongoing as to how they could continue to use 
hotels to house the homeless. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

34.4 The Cabinet Members for Adult Social Care Delivery and Adult Social Care 
Commissioning both highlighted the opportunity the pandemic had provided to work 
with a group of people in difficult circumstances with good effect. Several members 
also thanked district and county council staff for the work that had been undertaken 
to address homelessness during the pandemic. 

35. DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

35.1 Sarah Scott presented the Director of Public Health Report, including an update on 
the Outbreak Management Plan and Homelessness, to the Committee. 

35.2 The Committee was provided with an overview of the Local Outbreak Management 
Plan (LOMP) for COVID-19 in Gloucestershire. The Government had requested 
that all Directors of Public Health have outbreak management plans in place by 30 
June 2020. Gloucestershire’s LOMP had been built up from an existing 
communicable diseases outbreak management plan, and was focussed on 
preventing, containing, monitoring, and responding to outbreaks of COVID-19 in the 
County. 

35.3 In particular, it was explained that a COVID-19 Health Protection Board (HPB), 
chaired by the Director for Public Health, had been established to lead the 
implementation of the plan. The Strategic Coordination Group, which had been 
overseeing the response to the outbreak, would be handed over to the Police, and 
would exist in the background so that it could be stood back up should the HPB 
require support. 

35.4 A COVID-19 Outbreak Engagement Board, chaired by the Leader of the Council, 
had been established. The engagement board was cross party, and represented a 
number of sectors, including the district councils, GFirst LEP, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, and Gloucestershire Care Providers. The board did not have a 
scrutiny function or decision making powers, however had an advisory role in the 
further development and delivery of the LOMP, and in engaging with local 
communities. The importance of having the right people on the engagement board 
in order to communicate with local residents, and to gather soft intelligence from 
communities, such as on perceptions of risk from the virus, and on the acceptability 
of testing and advice, was highlighted. 

35.5 The Committee was advised that the work on the LOMP and the response to 
COVID-19 in the County would be the new business as usual, and that because it 
was such a huge amount of work to deliver and prioritise, some pre-COVID-19 
areas of work would have to be parked for the time being.

35.6 The Committee was also provided with an update on testing and cases within the 
County. It was noted that Gloucestershire was currently experiencing a low number 
of cases, with the number of cases peaking in mid April. It was also noted that 
published data now included pillar 1 and 2 testing, which provided a more accurate 
picture of the number of cases within Gloucestershire, enabling any changes and 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

patterns to be identified. Sarah Scott reassured the Committee that the flow of data 
from the Department of Health and Social Care was improving but it was not always 
timely.  She continued to receive daily alerts on testing within the County, and was 
monitoring the situation for potential clusters. She also advised that she received 
postcode level data on testing in the County, which included information relating to 
a person’s postcode and date of birth which allowed for a better oversight but the 
fields for ethnicity and occupation were often incomplete. 

35.7 One member asked whether the local data had been analysed to identify any 
patterns amongst ethnic minorities in the County, citing concentrations of cases 
amongst Eastern European residents in Cheltenham. In response, it was explained 
that the data set on ethnicity was often incomplete as people did not always fill in 
that field when getting tested, but where possible, this was being looked at. It was 
also explained that there was no evidence that Eastern Europeans were more 
susceptible to COVID-19, however certain occupations such as agricultural work 
and working in meat processing plants, as well as living arrangements could impact 
on the transmission of the virus. This would be a focus for the prevention work 
stream of the LOMP. 

35.8 In response to a query as to where members could access postcode level data on 
COVID-19 cases, it was explained that this information was not publically available 
as it was identifiable data. It was noted that a dashboard was being developed for 
COVID-19 data in the County. This would be brought to the Committee and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board for scrutiny. It was also noted that the local member 
would be contacted should a cluster of cases be identified in their division. 

35.9 There was also a query as to whether any action was being undertaken to address 
overcrowded living conditions which could be contributing to the transmission of 
coronavirus. 

36. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

36.1 Wayne Bowcock introduced the Chief Fire Officer report to the Committee, 
highlighting, in particular, the progress that had been made with the Improvement 
Board, which had been established in December 2019. GFRS had over 120 actions 
to address following audits carried out last year, and presently, 42 percent of audit 
actions had been approved by the Improvement Board Panel and forwarded on to 
Audit. Reviews had been carried out following each Improvement Board meeting, 
and an effective working relationship had developed between GFRS and the Audit 
Risk Assurance Team. 

36.2 Members were also informed that the next HMICFRS full inspection would likely be 
delayed due to the impact of the coronavirus outbreak; that the most efficient and 
effective way to use the 21 fire stations across Gloucestershire would be 
considered as part of the development of the next integrated risk management plan 
in consultation with the One Public Estate strategy; and that the work of Trading 
Standards continued to be affected by the Health Protection (Coronavirus 
Restrictions) (England) Regulations 2020, however, where possible, work was 
carried out virtually. Additionally, the Committee noted that the Coroner Service was 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

continuing to run its core functions, and that the Civil Protection Team had been 
embroiled in the COVID-19 response, as well as dealing with incidents of flooding 
and water outages across the County. 

36.3 There was a query from a member regarding the joint use of facilities with other 
blue light services. It was explained, in response, that facilities had been closed due 
to the pandemic, and that the reopening of facilities would be managed by the 
recovery cell. The collaboration board between the police and GCC/GFRS was 
being re-established. It was also understood that the Minister of State for Policing 
had written to the Police and Crime Commissioner advising that no decision would 
be taken regarding the governance of GFRS ahead of the election in 2021, and that 
a revised business case would be required should the PCC still wish to take over 
governance. 

36.4 A member thanked GFRS for its response to recent flooding in Nailsworth.

36.5 There was a further query about the programme being taken forward for road 
safety, as well as its financing. The Committee was advised that the Road Safety 
Cabinet Panel had been established to consider the matter, as well as a working 
group which would consider best practice from elsewhere and engage with relevant 
parties, such as the police and travel wise team at GCC. Plans for financing road 
safety had not been discussed at this stage. 

37. PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 4 2019/20 

37.1 Margaret Willcox, Sarah Scott and Wayne Bowcock presented the performance 
data for Quarter 4 2019/20 for each of their service areas to the Committee. 

37.2 Within Adult Social Care, it was explained that the number of people in employment 
with a disability supported by GCC Forward Services had not met its target as there 
were less places available for employment, and that officers were liaising nationally 
regarding this issue. Regarding the missed target for the percentage of service 
users in long term care who had had a review re-assessment of their needs within 
the last 12 months, it was explained that new referrals took priority over reviews; 
desktop reviews were regularly undertaken however this could not be included in 
the performance data; staff had been increasingly focussing on reviews during the 
coronavirus pandemic; and following the pandemic, how these reviews were 
addressed would need consideration. It was also noted that data collection relating 
to delayed transfers of care from hospital due to Adult Social Care per 100,000 
population had been suspended nationally. 

37.3 The Committee was advised that the score card for Prevention, Wellbeing and 
Communities had been shortened. It was explained that data was unavailable for 
the percentage of eligible patients offered a NHS Health Check as the service had 
been stopped as a result of the pandemic. It was noted that performance data was 
good for the percentage of pregnant smokers achieving a 4 week quit. It was also 
explained that the target of 100 percent for the percentage of Universal Partnership 
Plus infants who received a new birth visit by 30 days old had not been achieved 
due to some families not being discharged from hospital or residing elsewhere. 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Furthermore, the target for the percentage of Universal Partnership Plus children 
who received a 12 month review by the age of 15 months had not been achieved 
due to several families declining as a result of being under the care of other health 
services.  Therefore development checks were completed but not by the Public 
Health Nursing Service. 

37.4 The Committee was informed, regarding Pubic Protection, Parking and Libraries 
performance data, that the number of safe and well visits undertaken had fallen 
short of the target as visits had been suspended as a result of the pandemic, and 
prior to the outbreak, work was being carried out to address the backlog. Work was 
underway to prioritise appropriately, and additional staff were being brought in to 
address the backlog. Regarding road safety, it was noted that the number of killed 
and seriously injured people and children had increased since the previous quarter, 
and that this was being addressed through education, the safe and social driving 
partnership, and would be looked at as part of the review into the approach to road 
safety. In response to a query as to whether wet weather was a contributory factor 
for the increase, members were advised that a spike was normally witnessed during 
the winter quarters as a result of the darker evenings and worse weather. 

38. WORK PLAN 

The Committee agreed to consider reports on the COVID-19 Dashboard, and on 
COVID-19 testing in care homes and amongst domiciliary care workers, at its 
meeting on 8 September 2020. A report on the long term viability of care homes 
and domiciliary care providers would be added to the agenda for the meeting on 10 
November 2020. 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.50 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee
Joint Report from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 

and the Director of Public Health.

_________________________________________________

COVID-19 Adult Social Care Update

Purpose

This briefing provides an update for the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee on aspects of the COVID-19 response in care homes and domiciliary 
care in Gloucestershire.  It covers the Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund, NHS 
discharges to care homes, a care home lookback exercise that was agreed at the 
previous scrutiny committee meeting, Care Home visiting, day trip and Day Centre 
guidance and issues of testing in care homes and domiciliary care settings. 

Spend to date against the Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund 

The Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund is worth £600 million nationally. The 
primary purpose of this fund is to support adult social care providers, including those 
with whom the local authority does not have a contract, to reduce the rate of COVID-
19 transmission in and between care homes and support wider workforce resilience.

A small percentage of it could be used to support domiciliary care providers and 
support wider workforce resilience to deal with COVID-19 infections.

The grant conditions specified that at least 75% of the funding was required to be 
spent on COVID-19 infection control measures in Care Homes but did not allow the 
purchase of PPE; the remaining 25% could be used on other infection control 
measures including PPE and for the wider care market. Care homes were obliged to 
sign up to the National Capacity Tracker and be regularly submitting data in order to 
receive the second tranche of funding. 

In Gloucestershire, all funding was allocated to providers under a grant agreement, 
which once signed/returned, allocated the 75% portion among providers, based on 
the number of beds stipulated on the CQC list supplied by central Government. In 
the first tranche, 188 care home providers (93% of beds) returned the agreement 
and were paid. The 25% portion was allocated to domiciliary care providers in the 
first tranche; 68 of them returned their grant agreement and received an allocation of 
funds. 

For the second tranche, 191 care home providers have received a share of the 75% 
funding portion. The 25% funding portion is currently being dispensed to 68 
domiciliary care providers and 52 supported living providers. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Allocation and dispensing of Infection Control Fund in Gloucestershire as of 20th 
August 2020 can be seen in Appendix 1 (in the attached table).  

The £319,845.38 funding that was not dispensed from tranche 1 (25%) has been 
identified for the flu vaccination programme for care workers in all settings. The grant 
conditions around the 75% funds are more stringent and these must be spent on 
Care Home COVID-19 related infection control measures.  £403,96.11 of the 
75% for care homes has not been allocated and remains within our funds. It is 
possible that some care homes will challenge their allocation of the second tranche 
as the national tracker which they have to complete regularly in order to receive the 
second payment has on some occasions proved inaccurate. It is unlikely that much 
of the unallocated fund will be claimed in this way however. Discussion is ongoing as 
to whether the remaining amount will be distributed amongst eligible providers or 
returned to Government.”  

NHS Discharges to Care Homes

In Gloucestershire, national guidance for care homes was followed going into 
lockdown.  It is worth noting that guidance was changing rapidly and frequent 
updates were required to provider’s operating procedures.  It was also 
acknowledged nationally that access to PPE was limited to the stock which GCC and 
CCG were able to require, and was later supplemented by national PPE drops to the 
LRF.  Hospitals followed national guidance when discharging patients into care 
homes, updating practice as required.  In the vast majority of circumstances, care 
homes were compliant with PPE practice as each guideline was issued and alerted 
commissioners if they required additional PPE stocks. 

New guidance was released in the week beginning 20th April stating that all care 
home residents should be tested before being discharged from hospital.  Patients 
transferred to community facilities such as rehabilitation units or to care homes were 
therefore tested as per the guidance followed by Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHS Foundation Trust:

 Direct admissions are tested and kept in an Amber cohorted area until the 
results are known. They will then move to either a red Covid-19 Positive area 
or Green cohorted area (as per NHSE/I; PHE). 

 All admissions who have transferred from the acute trust (independent of 
whether they have had a test before) or other facility are tested and follow the 
same cohorting practice. 

 All people who are discharged to care homes or discharged home with 
packages of care are also tested within 3 days before discharge. Admission to 
care homes happens only once a NEGATIVE swab result has been returned 
having been taken no more than 72 hours prior to admission. In addition to 
this, guidance states that despite a Covid-19 negative test that all admissions 
will be isolated for 14 days after placement.

Page 12



The Infection, Prevention and Control (IPC) cell and Activity and Bed Planning Cell 
(ABP cell) have both been key advisors in the management of discharge of patients 
to care homes. At the current time in Gloucestershire, anyone being placed in a 
nursing home must be screened and have a negative COVID-19 swab 48-72 hours 
before discharge. This gives some level of reassurance; however, they will then still 
need to be isolated for the first 14 days after placement to ensure COVID-19 isn’t 
present.   There are 2 Hospital Discharge Support Units to help prevent the spread 
of Covid-19 and there have been no issues with patient flows.  In addition, 
Gloucestershire Integrated Brokerage Team maintain a log of capacity within care 
homes, care agencies and empty properties to ensure that support is delivered 
quickly and efficiently when a referral is made.

Government guidance (see link below, correct as at 31/07/20) suggests that a 
placement can be made whilst a COVID-19 test result is awaited but this isn’t 
Gloucestershire’s policy.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/905805/203107_Admission_and_care_of_residents_in_a_care_home
_during_COVID-19.pdf 

Care Home Lookback 

A process for a look back on Covid-19 cases, outbreaks and mortality in 
Gloucestershire care homes to date has been developed. The aim is to learn from 
what happened during the initial peak of the Covid-19 pandemic in order to make 
any appropriate changes which could facilitate better outcomes if there is a 
resurgence of Covid-19 cases in the coming months. It is crucial that this is done 
rapidly to ensure changes can be implemented in advance of any future increase in 
cases.

The work is being undertaken using quality improvement methodology with support 
from the quality improvement team, and will include a wide range of stakeholders 
including GCC, CCG, GHC and care homes. The review will include; data analysis, 
structured interviews with colleagues involved within the wider system and semi-
structured interviews with care homes. This will identify positive and negative 
learning points which will be collated into themes with actions. Consideration of the 
sensitivity of this project is crucial and care homes who take part will remain 
anonymous in any reports. The aim is to have initial themes and actions by the start 
of November.  

Director of Public Health Advice for Care Home Visiting

In July 2020 government guidance was released requiring that prior to visits being 
allowed in care homes, the director of public health in every area should disseminate 
their view on the suitability of visiting in the local authority area, taking into account 
infection rates and the wider risk environment.

The decision on whether or not to allow visitors, and in what circumstances, is 
ultimately an operational decision for the provider and managers of each individual 

Page 13

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/905805/203107_Admission_and_care_of_residents_in_a_care_home_during_COVID-19.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/905805/203107_Admission_and_care_of_residents_in_a_care_home_during_COVID-19.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/905805/203107_Admission_and_care_of_residents_in_a_care_home_during_COVID-19.pdf
file:///C:/Users/TEMP/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/OGSA2LHC/(https:/www.gov.uk/government/publications/visiting-care-homes-during-coronavirus%20)


setting to make. However, this decision should be based on the advice from the 
Director of Public Health, as well as any additional advice or guidance from the local 
infection-control lead from the CCG, and the local Public Health England Health 
Protection Team.

Local Guidance has been issued to care homes and publicised on the GCC website.

To monitor the situation, the C19 Tactical Response Group will review all relevant 
intelligence (e.g. cases, testing, community hot spot areas) weekly to decide whether 
there is a need for any action in terms of controls or containment. This will use the 
‘Hierarchy of Controls’ being developed, which will include care home visiting. The 
group will log the decision and the information used to make this decision. In the 
case of sudden changes identified as part of our daily monitoring between the C19 
Tactical Response Group, these would be raised to the C19 Health Protection 
Board.  

Advice Regarding Residents Leaving Care Homes for Visits/Holidays

Many people (particularly young people) residing in care and supported living 
settings are used to a regular visit home or to going on holiday with parents, carers 
or friends.  With the introduction of controlled and time-limited visiting inside the care 
setting, the next step was to look at how residents/ tenants visiting with family away 
from the care setting could be safely facilitated. 

In lieu of national guidance which is still outstanding, local guidance was drafted by 
colleagues from the GCC Integrated Disabilities Commissioning Hub and Public 
Health and reviewed by the Infection, Prevention and Control Cell.  The guidance 
asks residents/tenants to agree to visits away from the care setting only where this is 
necessary to maintain their wellbeing and where virtual communications and visits 
within the care setting are not enough to support good mental health.  Any visiting or 
holiday arrangements will be jointly agreed between the family, the resident/tenant 
and the care provider and are subject to full risk assessment and robust care 
planning.  We are not currently supporting residents/tenants to take holidays outside 
of the UK.  

The guidance is currently with the Care Providers Association for comment before 
wider circulation.

Day Centre Guidance

The issues involved in re-opening day services safely are complex, given the diverse 
nature of each of the services. The decision to re-open or offer a variation of a 
service through a phased reintroduction is a decision for each provider based on 
thorough risk assessment informed by Government guidance.  

Based on national guidance available on the 29th June, local guidance has been 
developed that will provide a framework for providers who are re-opening both 
building based and community external day services or for those who want to offer a 
variation of their service through a phased reintroduction.   For all day services a risk 
assessment must be completed. Guidance on carrying out risk assessments for 

Page 14

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/covid-19-information-and-advice/visiting-guidance-for-care-homes/


safety, health and environment (SHE) and for all individuals who will attend the 
building / undertake community support have been included.  The document 
contains links to national guidance on infection prevention control and working safely 
and it is noted that as the situation evolves guidance is being continually updated 
and providers should check back to the government website for the latest information 
on a regular basis.

Testing in Care Homes

Antigen (Rapid PCR) Testing:
On 3rd of July Ros Roughton wrote to Local Authorities launching the next phase of 
the testing in adult social care strategy where it was set out how care homes can 
access testing through local PHE Health Protection Teams in the event of an 
outbreak and through the National Testing Programme in other circumstances. 
Based on advice from SAGE, it was proposed, from the 6th July, to start to roll out 
weekly testing of staff and testing of residents every 28 days in all care homes 
without outbreaks through Pillar 2 testing.

DHSC subsequently wrote to Local Authorities on 31st July stating that whilst they 
have had a positive response to the roll out of regular whole home testing with most 
care homes having now registered, as a result of a numbers of factors including 
rising demand across testing and unexpected delays, DHSC had not been able to 
reach all care homes for older people and people with dementia as quickly as hoped.   

They issued revised timelines for regular care home testing and now hope to reach 
all care homes for older people and people with dementia by the 7 September 2020.  
For homes that have already started regular testing, there may be a wait for the 
second month’s order to be fulfilled until all care homes for older people and people 
with dementia have been reached for the first round.  DHSC indicated that all other 
adult care homes will be able to start to place orders for test kits from the 31 August 
2020.  There was a further communication on Friday 21st August that has been 
passed to providers requesting that Care Homes are encouraged to undertake 
regular testing at weekends to help manage the national capacity.   It should be 
noted that all care homes that have symptomatic residents will continue to be able to 
access testing through the local PHE Health Protection Team in the South West.   
 
DHSC communicated directly with care homes who have registered for regular 
testing to inform them of the revised rollout dates and have reassured Local 
Authorities that care home testing has not stopped.  Over 50,000 tests are being 
issued a day to care homes across the country, with the majority of these in high 
priority outbreak areas.

In Gloucestershire between the 2nd July and 11th August 115* Care homes 
registered for and received testing kits. This data is now being updated monthly, so 
an update is due mid-September.  
 
*this number may include the same care home registering for repeat testing and 
Other care homes will have completed care home testing prior to 2nd July.

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus


Antibody Testing:
Antibody testing for Covid19 is now available to social care provider staff. This is 
ahead of any national scheme and is being carefully managed and monitored.  A 
positive antibody test does not indicate that somebody is immune and so it is 
important staff understand the significance of the result it to support an 
understanding of how C19 has spread, and it is emphasised that they must continue 
to follow all infection prevention control procedures carefully.  We have managed to 
secure clinic dates as of Monday 27th July and these will be updated weekly with 
further clinic times. There are two routes to testing:

1. For care providers with trained staff who are able to take staff bloods in-house: 
They complete an online form for all staff who require testing and then email a 
named contact who organises the necessary equipment to be sent to them.

2. For providers who do not have the facility or are unable to take bloods in house: 
individual staff make an online application for a suitable clinic date and time.

Care homes have also been sent a testing route map diagram to help clarify 
(Appendix 2). 

Research that Reported the Low Prevalence of C19 in Domiciliary Care 
Workers

A recent study carried out by Public Health England in June 2020, found that the 
prevalence of COVID-19 among active domiciliary care workers was in line with the 
general population at the time of the study and was not a higher prevalence as 
observed in studies of front-line healthcare workers and care home staff observed 
earlier in the epidemic. It is important to note that there were a number of limitations 
of this study, in particular the possible under-representation of currently symptomatic 
domiciliary care workers and data collection after the peak of the epidemic.  This 
research was key to the national decision to withhold introducing regular routine 
testing for Domiciliary Care Workers.  This remains under review at the national 
level. 

COVID-19 prevalence survey: domiciliary care staff in England PHE July 2020: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-prevalence-survey-domiciliary-
care-staff-in-england

Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-prevalence-survey-domiciliary-care-staff-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-prevalence-survey-domiciliary-care-staff-in-england


Allocation and dispensing of Infection Control Fund in Gloucestershire as of 20th August 2020

Local authority Gloucestershire County Council

Tranche 1 received £3,875,771.50:

£2,906,828.63 – 75%

£968,942.87 – 25%  

Tranche 1 allocated and dispensed £2,700,290.70  of  75%

£649,097.49 of 25%  

Tranche 1 (25%) yet to be dispensed – these were funds 
originally allocated to domiciliary care providers that either 
turned down the funds or did not respond to correspondence. 
The funds will be used to pay for flu vaccinations for care 
workers across the market. 

£319,845.38 of 25% 

Tranche 1 (75%) un-allocated – these were allocated to care 
homes that either turned down the funds or did not respond to 
correspondence. There is less flexibility in how these funds can 
be allocated as they are specifically for use on Covid related 
infection control measures in Care Homes.

£206,537.93 of 75%

Tranche 2 received £3,875,771.50

£2,906,828.63 – 75%

£968,942.87 – 25%  

Tranche 2 allocated and dispensed - to care home providers 
that responded to the last tranche, are completing the tracker 
as per grant conditions and still want to receive the funds.  

£2,709,490.45 of  75%

Tranche 2 (25%) yet to be dispensed – to domiciliary care and 
supported living providers. Domiciliary care providers who 
responded to the last tranche will receive their funds shortly 
and supported living providers will be offered the opportunity 
at the same time. 

£968,942.87  of 25%

Tranche 2 (75%) yet to be allocated  - originally allocated to 
care homes that are no longer eligible as they are not 
completing the tracker or did not sign grant agreement. 

£197,338.18 of 75%

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Care Homes

Coronavirus (COVID-19) tests available 
for adult social care in England

Do you have 

a suspected or 

current outbreak? 

(At least one 

suspected or 

confirmed case of 

COVID-19 in staff or 

residents)

Report to Health Protection Team (HPT) as soon as a case is suspected. 

Testing available now. 

Once an outbreak is confirmed, the HPT will arrange testing for all residents 

and staff. The HPT will also arrange a follow up test after 4-7 days for 

residents and staff who tested negative on the first round of testing or who 

missed the initial test.

Apply for regular testing and follow 

whole home retesting cycle.*

• Weekly testing of staff, including 

bank and agency staff

• Test residents every 28 days.

Yes – a current 

outbreak and the 

steps above for a 

new outbreak have 

been completed

Yes, a new 

suspected or 

confirmed outbreak

No

Extra Care and Supported Living settings

Do you have a new 

or current outbreak? 

Report to Health Protection Team (HPT) / Directors of Public Health. 

They will undertake an initial risk assessment, provide advice on outbreak 

management and decide what testing is needed. 

We will roll out an initial round of testing for staff and residents in supported 

living and extra care settings which meet certain risk-based criteria. Local 

Directors of Public Health will determine which extra care and supported 

living settings meet the criteria.

Yes

No

Currently only care homes 

caring for over 65s and those 

with dementia are eligible 

for retesting. All other adult 

care homes registered with 

CQC will be able to register 

for regular testing from 31 

August. See guidance

Continue the regular weekly testing cycle for staff*

Asymptomatic testing of residents is not needed unless recommended 

otherwise by the HPT or by the Director of Public Health following a local risk 

assessment.

If residents develop symptoms, contact the HPT to access rapid testing. 

If staff develop symptoms, they must not be tested in the care home. They 

should self-isolate and order a test through the self referral portal

All staff and residents should be retested* again 28 days after the 

last resident or staff had a positive test result or showed coronavirus-like 

symptoms. If no further cases are identified at this point, the outbreak 

is considered to have ended. Any further cases after this point is a new 

outbreak and the care home must contact the HPT.

*Note: Staff or residents who have been 

diagnosed with COVID-19 should not be 

included in testing (as part of regular testing 

or the whole home test at 28 days after the 

last identified case) until six weeks after:

• Their initial onset of symptoms

• Or, if asymptomatic when tested, their 

positive test result

If they develop new symptoms, they should 

be retested immediately.

Page 19

http://www.gov.uk/health-protection-team
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested#care-home
http://www.gov.uk/health-protection-team
https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus
http://www.gov.uk/get-coronavirus-test


Page 2 out of 2

Domiciliary care
Asymptomatic testing for domiciliary care workers (also 
known as home care workers) will be guided by the 
results from the PHE prevalence study into domiciliary 
care. This study found that COVID-19 prevalence 
among domiciliary care workers was similar to 
prevalence in the general population. We are currently 
reviewing the implications for asymptomatic testing in 
domiciliary care.

 

Testing for people being 
admitted to a care home
People being discharged from hospital to a care home 
are tested at hospital before discharge.

Testing for people being 
admitted to a care home from 
the community 
People being admitted to a care home from the 
community should be tested prior to admission to a 
care home. Guidance setting out the process for this 
will follow shortly.

Other settings 
Work is underway to support and enable Directors of 
Public Health to direct some testing locally to respond 
to local need. This may include further testing resource 
within Adult Social Care but the allocation of this 
testing will be determined by the local Director of Public 
Health. The National Testing Programme will update on 
progress shortly.

Antibody testing 
Antibody testing will be rolled out to staff in phases 
across regions in England. This is has been piloted in 
areas including Greater Manchester. We will shortly set 
out how the NHS will support adult social care staff to 
access antibody testing. 

Further advice for care homes
For more information and guidance on whole home 
testing visit: www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-
covid-19-getting-tested#care-home

Read the guidance on admission, isolation and 
testing of residents. This guidance will continue to be 
updated regularly so check back every retest cycle. 

If you have any issues with registration, delivery or 
collection of test kits, contact the Coronavirus Testing 
call centre on 0300 303 2713. It is open from 07:00 to 
23:00 every day.

Anyone with symptoms can get tested for coronavirus by visiting www.gov.uk/get-coronavirus-test

Coronavirus (COVID-19) testing for adult social care

Page 20

http://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested#care-home
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-getting-tested#care-home
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-admission-and-care-of-people-in-care-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-admission-and-care-of-people-in-care-homes
http://www.gov.uk/get-coronavirus-test


Adult Social Care and Communities
Scrutiny Committee – 
Report from Executive Director of Adult Social Care. 

_________________________________________________
Gloucestershire Partnership Boards during COVID19

Gloucestershire has had Partnership Boards for many years helping to shape and 
influence services and highlighting the experiences of people with “lived experience”.    
The Boards are established for Learning Disabilities, Autism, Mental Health, Physical 
Disabilities and Sensory Impairment and most recently Carers.  Each board meets 
independently several times a year, bringing together people with lived experience, 
and professionals within the statutory services and the voluntary sector as a working 
collaboration to effect positive change. 

A meeting was scheduled in March this year as the COVID19 crisis was unfolding 
and the planned meeting was held via Zoom instead of the usual face to face 
gathering. What became apparent in that ad hoc meeting was:

 Zoom attendance was excellent as no travelling involved so clicking in from 
home or office freed up significant time.

 There were common issues in each board in relation to support and the need 
when dealing with COVID19.

 The joint partnership boards had the ability to bring together a very wide group of 
people ranging from those experiencing first hand the problems of coping with 
their conditions during COVID19, the many voluntary organisations working hard 
to support them and officials working within health and social care who were 
tasked with steering a path through the lockdown.

 The boards could feed into the county’s emergency command structure rapidly 
and effectively.

Deepening Inequalities 

The intelligence gathered from the weekly meetings highlighted the widening 
inequalities for people with disabilities and mental health conditions due to COVID19: 
-
• Disruption and distress for people with autism who struggle with any change to 

their routine, anxiety about COVID19 and a lack of understanding why things 
had changed.

• Distress for people with mental health needs, increasing symptoms of anxiety 
and many reporting that their mental health was deteriorating by remaining at 
home, sometimes in isolation.

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



• People with disabilities who previously coped with living independently but were 
reliant on online food delivery, found it difficult to get a delivery slot. Others were 
reliant on elderly parents for support who could no longer visit, as they may have 
been shielding.  This meant that they had no clean clothes, no support to read 
mail, pay bills etc.

• Many hospital appointments were cancelled. This led to a big impact on people’s 
quality of life and their ability to cope with their long term conditions and pain 
management.

• People with hearing or visual impairments felt even more isolated than usual due 
to social distancing. 

• For some people British Sign Language is their first language so general 
information about COVID19 is difficult to understand.

• The gap in services for people with complex neurological conditions deepened 
further. Treatment ceased as staff were redeployed.  There were no funding 
streams, initiatives, specialist services to support this group as neurological 
conditions are not formally recognised as part of national or regional 
programmes. Individuals struggled with their very complex disabilities, raising 
concerns that they were not identified as “shielding” or “vulnerable”.  

Positive Results

The experience of the partnership board collaboration has been overwhelmingly 
positive and has kept Gloucestershire one step ahead of the curve in managing the 
pandemic.

Collaboration is key: The culture established from day 1 was that everyone’s views 
were equal.

Genuine co-production: People felt listening to and positive changes happened as 
a result of true collaboration.

Attendance: Virtual meetings facilitated much wider and consistent attendance.

Simplified chain of command: This meant that issues were followed by actions 
quickly and effectively via the emergency planning process.  

Impact: Almost everyone who fell into the vulnerable people categories 2, 3 and 4 
were represented at the weekly board meetings.  This harnessed invaluable 
intelligence which fed into the emergency planning cells via the Vulnerable People 
Bronze Cell.

Reinvigorated professionals: Collaboration enabled everyone to see that the direct 
effects of their work made a real difference and their creative ideas were appreciated 
and actioned.

Page 22



Creative responses included;

 Issues fed in directly from the VCS or people with lived experience were escalated 
to relevant command structure and action implemented, either on an individual or 
collective basis.

 Collaboration mapping exercise between VCS and statutory sector to assist 
community hub support across the county.

 VCS helped to produce guidance for professionals, translate statutory documents 
and newsletters into easy read or BSL and established a COVID19 website as a 
place where people could go to find the latest advice 
https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/covid-19 

 PPE issues and solutions shared across all sectors working with commissioners 
and brokerage.

 In lieu of any national guidance, we worked with colleagues in Public Health to 
create local guidance on the reopening day services to support small VCS 
organisations to re-open safely.

Information and Guidance were shared widely keeping everyone informed on the 
latest information.

Newsletters: Fortnightly bulletins kept many people in vulnerable categories 
informed across the county on a frequent basis and helped to simplify key messages 
from Government.

Neurology sub group: A sub group was set up at the start of the pandemic as 
individuals with neurological conditions were disproportionately affected by 
COVID19.  This brought together the acute and community health sectors, 
commissioners, professionals and VCS. 

Voluntary sector and statutory services working together sharing issues and 
actions in a way that had rarely happened before.  

In summary, working together via the collaboration of partnership boards has been a 
tremendously positive experience.  There has been significant learning which will 
shape the way we develop services in future.  By combining the partnership boards, 
it has strengthened the voice of people with “lived experience”, brought VCS 
organisations together and acted as a valuable resource to the statutory services.  
This learning will be included within the Partnership Board Review which will 
recommence from September 2020.

Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board

The Board is re-commencing its regular quarterly meetings after a period of 
postponement due to the pandemic. The first Board meeting was held on August 4th 

Page 23

https://www.inclusiongloucestershire.co.uk/COVID-19


and focused on statutory partners’ safeguarding responses to Covid. The next 
meeting will be held as scheduled on September 10th, with the voluntary and 
community sector providing updates on their responses during the pandemic. The 
meetings will be shorter than the usual 3 hours and will be virtual. 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

It has been ‘business as usual’ for the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Service with 
practitioners having to carry out assessments remotely due to being unable to visit 
care homes. The team has been trialling new care phones which provide a secure 
video link to homes. The Department of Health and Social care has confirmed April 
2022 as the new date for the implementation of the Liberty Protection Safeguards 
(the replacement for the DoLS system). This was due to come into force in October 
this year and is subject to a substantial delay due to the recognition by the DHSC of 
the demands on services created by the pandemic. 

Safeguarding Adults Team

The Safeguarding team saw an increase in referrals and concerns raised during the 
lockdown period – 861 compared to 772 for the same period last year (23rd March to 
22nd July). There were significant increases in the number of safeguarding referrals 
being made by residential homes, Gloucestershire Police and the South West 
Ambulance Service. Concerns raised by friends and family also saw a large increase 
(85 compared to 43). In terms of the types of abuse reported, domestic abuse 
concerns saw a significant increase (104 compared to 77), as did self-neglect (82 
compared to 38). In relation to self-neglect, a number of these cases are ones which 
ordinarily would be managed without Safeguarding involvement, but lockdown itself 
has led to unique pressures which then makes a Safeguarding referral appropriate. 
A proportion have also related to individuals with combined substance misuse and 
homelessness issues.

Client Affairs Team

The Client Affairs team has continued to operate its usual service with a reduced 
number of Officers present in Shire Hall to respond to requests for cash from people 
using the service. 

Technology and Adult Social Care

The Adult Single Programme team continues to support the increasing use of 
technology by frontline adult social care teams. As well as the ongoing use of tablets 
which enable safe and easy communication between staff in locality offices, 
hospitals and the community, the team are developing field trials of digital technology 
which can use artificial intelligence to help predict and prevent falls. The project is 

Page 24



still in the planning stages, but aims to work across health and social care settings to 
test effectiveness for three cohorts of people: those living with complex care needs in 
their own homes; those with an early diagnosis of dementia; and people living in 
extra care housing. 

A TEC (Technology Enabled Care) Advisor has been recruited and will start work in 
September. The purpose of the role is to encourage and educate people about the 
wider use of technology in both adult social care and in the self funding market. This 
will involve working with care providers, with health and social care staff and in our 
communities with the aim of enabling people to embrace technology to promote 
wellbeing and reduce need. 

A number of projects funded through the Digital Innovation Fund are now underway, 
having been delayed by lockdown. A forum has been established to share best 
practice and ideas to maximise the impact of the work. For example, Keep Safe are 
developing an app which will assist vulnerable people to find safe and welcoming 
places in the community. This is being soft tested with other forum members, Age 
UK and Inclusion Gloucestershire before being launched later this year.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee
Report from the Director of Public Health

8th September 2020
_________________________________________________

Homelessness Update

1. Purpose

Further to the report presented to committee on 7th July: 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s61808/ASC%20Scrutiny%20Committee
%2007.07.20%20-%20Director%20of%20Public%20Health%20Report.pdf, this report gives 
further information on the work of the multi-agency Rough Sleeper and Homelessness 
COVID-19 Cell and the Strategic Housing Partnership (SHP).  This has ensured a county 
wide response, sharing of resources and the ability to deliver the right option to individual 
clients, irrespective of administrative boundaries.  It has also ensured that Rough Sleepers, 
and those at imminent risk of rough sleeping, have been afforded the opportunity to self-
isolate and mitigate the risk of infection during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Leadership Gloucestershire, specifically the CEOs/MDs from the 7 councils, tasked Strategic 
Directors with oversight of this work.  We continue to be guided by the following statement of 
strategic intent:

‘We will focus on and prioritise those individuals we have housed through the Covid-19 
pandemic who are vulnerable and those with entrenched homelessness, and ensure they 
have access to suitable move-on accommodation. We will not lose sight of the broader 
context of our housing needs across the County and will seek to provide options for the 
current cohort which will serve the housing system in the longer term’.

2. Current position

Gloucestershire has developed excellent homeless pathways pre-COVID-19, as reported to 
the Committee on 24th September 2019: 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s55907/gcc-public-health-report-final.pdf.   
Appendix A of this report describes the services GCC commissions in relation to community 
and accommodation-based support and Appendix B shows the homeless pathway that has 
been developed in the County.

As lock down restrictions have reduced and the housing system has been brought 
incrementally ‘back on line’, residents have been supported to secure appropriate housing 
options – this has enabled us to reduce the level of block booked hotel provision from three 
hotels to two.  Basic needs, such as food etc., continue to be provided to residents on a 
need’s basis. 

67 individuals have moved directly from the Gloucestershire Covid-19 Emergency 
Accommodation Protocol (CEAP) accommodation and a further 61 individuals, who have 
spent some time in CEAP accommodation and/or rough sleeping during this period, have 
moved on to private rented, social housing or accommodation-based support so far. Many 
others now have housing pathways identified and are waiting for suitable properties to 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s61808/ASC%20Scrutiny%20Committee%2007.07.20%20-%20Director%20of%20Public%20Health%20Report.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s61808/ASC%20Scrutiny%20Committee%2007.07.20%20-%20Director%20of%20Public%20Health%20Report.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s55907/gcc-public-health-report-final.pdf


become available either through commissioned services or the private and social housing 
markets. 

As at 24.08.20 there are 87 individuals in CEAP accommodation and a further 75 individuals 
remain in a variety of other temporary accommodation options.

The majority of the individuals now in the hotels require low to no support and have 
managed to maintain their placement in the hotel, under difficult circumstances, for a 
significant period of time.  As such, the relevant district council housing teams are seeking to 
identify appropriate accommodation options for these residents.  

3. Clients with support needs

Now that lockdown restrictions have eased these pathways are beginning to mobilise again, 
access into accommodation-based support and move on from the Somewhere Safe to Stay 
Hubs and Assessment Centres is now possible.  However, due to social distancing, there is 
reduced capacity across these pathways.  The securing of additional accommodation units 
as described below will enable current residents of Accommodation Based Support (ABS) 
services who are ready for independent living, to move on and thereby create vacancies for 
others in need of ABS.

Unfortunately, the hotel environment, where many clients were housed during the pandemic, 
has proved to be too difficult for the most entrenched/repeat homeless clients to sustain 
despite continued efforts from a number of different support services.  

As such, 34 people have been verified as rough sleeping on 21.08.20.  Of these; 

 15 individuals have been accommodated via CEAP but have returned to rough sleeping. 
 16 individuals had a history of repeat and/or long-term rough sleeping prior to Covid-19 

lockdown
 8 individuals have started rough sleeping for the first time in the last month and outreach 

are working to engage and collate further information to determine their needs/pathways 

As part of Gloucestershire’s response to C-19 a Complex Case Cell (CCC) was formed as a 
subgroup of the Gloucestershire Covid-19 Rough Sleeper/ Homeless Cell: it was designed 
not to provide a reactive, emergency response but to give an opportunity for agencies to 
come together to consider, assess and plan proactive longer-term solutions for individuals.   
This multi-agency group has ensured there is a process to assist people whose complex 
needs mean that access to accommodation through the District Authorities or the Rapid 
Rehousing Pathway (RRP) and Homeless START pathway is not possible and they require 
a more individual innovative partnership solution.

The cell has identified a small group of entrenched rough sleepers who have very complex 
needs.  These people all have:

 Been rough sleeping for a number of years
 Been offered and have failed numerous times, placements within all of the different types 

of placements offered as part of the current Gloucestershire homelessness pathway
 Are well known to numerous parts of the Gloucestershire housing, health and social care 

system including: A&E, The Police, Mental Health, and Drug and Alcohol services, 
Housing depts.

 Present in a very chaotic and self-neglectful way
 They have suffered large amounts of trauma within their lives, with this trauma 

manifesting itself in challenging behaviour.

In the interim we have continued to reach out and seek to engage with rough sleepers during 

Page 28



this time to encourage them to access accommodation.  Homeless outreach, the community 
drug and alcohol service (CGL), and other relevant support agencies continue to support 
and encourage engagement by those clients with complex needs and chaotic lifestyles, both 
for those remaining in the accommodation and reaching out for those cases who have either 
refused to access or have left the emergency accommodation. 

The scale of placements required during the pandemic, has however, created such a swell in 
demand that our current capacity across the housing system would not have been able to 
accommodate this for some considerable time, even when operating under normal 
circumstances.

The need for an additional supply of accommodation and support was identified at an early 
stage and a Supply sub-cell was established to support the level of activity required to 
‘bridge the gap’ of supply and demand.

4. Future Funding Opportunities

A Gloucestershire wide submission has been made to the MHCLG’s recently announced 
Next Steps Accommodation Programme.  This bid includes a range of additional properties 
and support arrangements that are deemed to be deliverable by March 2021 and are 
appropriate for the level and types of needs of those accommodated during the pandemic.

We are expecting to be advised of the level of funding being awarded to Gloucestershire via 
the Next Steps Programme in early/mid October.  This will impact on the scale and pace of 
additional accommodation secured to rehouse those accommodated under emergency 
measures during COVID-19.

Appendix A

Summary of Community and Accommodation Based Support services commissioned 
by GCC

Community Based Support

Generic Community Based Support (CBS) Services are commissioned using a place-based 
approach. The County is divided into two clusters (Gloucester, Forest of Dean, Tewkesbury 
and Cheltenham, Stroud, Cotswold) due to its size and to mitigate the impact of any provider 
issues. 

CBS Services are commissioned to deliver short term support that build on an individual’s 
existing strengths to help them develop the skills and resources to become self reliant and 
resilient. This could include practical support to develop skills for maintaining independent 
living; support to access training, volunteering and/or employment; rebuilding family 
relationships and developing links with other people, neighbourhoods and community 
networks.

Using a combination of a drop-in service, more intensive one to one support and group work, 
individuals are supported to acquire the information and skills they need to make positive 
changes in their lives and make connections to the people, places and activities in their 
communities that will enable them to live independently and flourish in the longer term. 

Page 29



The service supports people in any form of accommodation and across a continuum of need 
from early intervention and prevention through to intensive support for people in crisis/ high 
level and complex need. 

Building on early prevention, CBS services are adept at developing resilience, both at an 
individual level and a community level. Psychological resilience, the ability to recover quickly 
from difficulties are protective factors to combat ACEs (Adverse Childhood Experiences). 
CBS services have also been co-located in other professional settings for example Children 
Social Care and Hospital, with a high degree of success in supporting other front-line 
workers; vulnerable families and patients to achieve successful outcomes.

Accommodation Based Support

Accommodation Based Support Services provide support to people in designated short-term 
accommodation accessed by service users for the specific purpose of undertaking housing 
needs and support assessments and/or receiving support to prepare them for independent 
living. 

With a shift of investment into community-based support we have over time worked with 
providers of Accommodation Based Support (ABS) services to focus on supporting 
vulnerable people with complex, multiple and high-level needs. These services, working in 
partnership with Community Based Support services, support service users to reconnect at 
the earliest opportunity to the neighbourhoods and communities where they have positive 
attachments.

ABS Services are designed to increase service user confidence and help them develop the 
necessary skills to support their transition to independent living in the community. 
ABS units are divided into the following:

 16+ services – Service Users aged primarily 16-21 (although older young
People can access if appropriate)

 18+ services – Services Users aged 18+ complex needs or chaotic lifestyles
 Assessment centre services (18+) operate as a first stage assessment service for 

homeless adults with complex needs and chaotic lifestyles. 

The Assessment Services undertake a personalised assessment and provide structured 
interventions to identify a plan for moving on within a three-month period. 

Working together to address rough sleeping and entrenched homelessness

Close partnership working has led to the joint commissioning, and successful bids for 
additional external funding, for services targeting Rough Sleepers and those at imminent risk 
of rough sleeping. This includes the expansion of the Homeless Assertive Outreach Service; 
funding for intensive support to over 100 entrenched rough sleepers and repeat users of 
homelessness services; and more recently provision of Somewhere Safe to Stay (SStS) 
hubs and Navigator Services.  

GCC was one of 11 Somewhere Safe to Stay (SStS) Hub early adopters chosen, having 
demonstrated our ability to rapidly mobilise, our understanding of the local Rough Sleeper 
cohort and our existing wider pathway of services 

The money funds two SStS hubs (Gloucester and Cheltenham). The hubs are open and 
staffed on a 24 hour, 7 days a week basis. The hubs build on the ‘No Second Night Out’ 
principles (detailed below), by rapidly assessing the needs of people in Gloucestershire who 

Page 30



are sleeping rough or at imminent risk of sleeping rough. They provide a safe environment in 
which they encourage people to move off the street straight away, and support them to get 
the right help that focuses on addressing the root causes of homelessness.

There is a rapid assessment of needs and eligibility in a shared ‘sit-up’ space during a short 
stay, and a housing plan is co-produced, aimed at alleviating their rough sleeping and 
providing referrals into other support services where needed.

Individuals can be supported by specialist navigators aligned to the hubs, to assess wider 
support needs and assist them to navigate housing, mental health and drug and alcohol 
pathways.

THE NSNO PRINCIPLES (Homeless Link 2014)

• New rough sleepers should be identified and helped off the streets immediately so that 
they do not fall into a dangerous rough sleeping lifestyle.

• Members of the public should be able to play an active role by reporting and referring 
people sleeping rough.

• Rough sleepers should be helped to access a place of safety where their needs can be 
quickly assessed and they can receive advice on their options.

• Rough sleepers should be able to access emergency accommodation and other 
services, such as healthcare, if needed.

• If people have come from another area or country and find themselves sleeping rough, 
the aim should be to reconnect them back to their local community unless there is a 
good reason why they cannot return. There, they will be able to access housing and 
recovery services, and have support from family and friends

Page 31



Accommodation based 
support short term

GCC funding

START* referral for 
homeless individuals 
needing supported 
accommodation  

START referral

 Assessment Service

GCC funding

Assertive Outreach: 
rough sleepers

Jointly commissioned

CCG, GCC,LA’s PCC

C

Reconnection or 
independent 
accommodation 
options including: 
rent deposits for 
access to the 
private rented 
sector, shared 
housing options, 
intensive housing 
management 
properties, social 
housing and 
sheltered housing 

Community Based 
Support is a wrap 
around provision 
and is available to 
all individuals who 
are transitioning to 
independent living 
as a drop in or 1:1 
service. 

Provision Move on Additional support Referral Mechanism

Street Link Referral for 
rough sleepers

National funding

Prevention & 
support

Community based 
support (CBS)

GCC funding 

Homeless Health 
Care team and Time 
to Heal

CCG funding

Local Authority 
housing advice and 
assistance

Somewhere Safe to 
Stay Hubs (SSTS)

Navigator Service

 

Assertive Outreach to 
make contact with 
rough sleepers

Jointly commissioned

 Action Glos

Social impact bond 
payments by results

Drug and alcohol 
support

Domestic abuse 
support

 
Specialist CBS

Refugee & asylum 
seekers

Sensory impairment

 

*START is a multi 
agency referral and 
assessment process 
to allocate 
accommodation based 
support

Annexe B : Gloucestershire Homelessness Pathway

P
age 32



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fire and Rescue 

 

HMICFRS Inspection Update 

Following the full Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) HMICFRS report publication 

on 17th December 2019, HMICFRS have published the national State of Fire & Rescue 2019 

along with the Public Perceptions of Fire and Rescue Services 2019 report.   

 

The reports can be accessed at: https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-

content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-double-page.pdf 

 

The Service continues to consider the report findings alongside the outcome of the GFRS 

HMICFRS Inspection Report to develop an appropriate Improvement Plan.    

 

GFRS have been informed that a virtual inspection, which is COVID specific, will commence on 

the 9th November 2020 and will last for two weeks.  The staff survey in relation to this has 

been circulated and staff are currently completing it.   

 

 

Improvement Board 

GFRS have a total of one hundred and twenty four actions following the audits that were 

carried out and published last year.  To ensure robust monitoring and support can be 

provided, an Improvement Board (IB) was established in December 2019.  For each audit 

action there is a Ratification Report that records the evidence and progress that has been 

made.  Once an Area Lead is confident that the action has been fully addressed, the completed 

Ratification Report is put forward to the IB Panel for verification.  If the IB is satisfied that the 

audit action has been fully met, this will then be forwarded to Audit for their approval.  

Title 
Chief Fire Officer Report – Adult and Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee 

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Civil 
Protection and Coroners Services.  

Date 26th August 2020 

Purpose of Report 
To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of service 
provision, opportunities and challenges 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-double-page.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-double-page.pdf


2 
 

At present, fifty-seven (46%) have been approved by the IB Panel and forwarded on to Audit.  

Twenty-six (21%) are currently awaiting further input or work from other departments within 

GCC. 

 

As a deliberately developing and learning organisation, reviews are undertaken following each 

IB Meeting.  As a result and over the last three months, an effective and more collaborative 

working relationship has been established between GFRS and the Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) 

Team.  Regular meetings have been carried out and future ones scheduled.  Training for all 

ARA members, with the use of the Improvement Board Tracker and Evidence Folders, has 

taken place and access to this information has been made available.  ARA Team members are 

now invited to attend each IB meeting and have the opportunity to ask questions / support or 

challenge Area Leads where they deem appropriate.  The main reason for this is to ensure 

transparency and add another level of quality assurance in an effort to collaboratively support 

the efficient progress of the improvement journey.   

 

Business Planning 

The one-year extension to the current IRMP 2018 – 21 has been approved. A workshop is 

planned for the 7th September 2020 to develop this, along with the three year IRMP for 2022 

– 2025. 

 

The Community Safety Annual Plan 2020 – 2021 is currently being finalised in consultation 

with Team Leads. The Corporate Risk Register for GFRS has had a complete and thorough 

review and is now a working document.  

 

The Improvement Board themes that relate to HR are progressing well, this continues to 

support all other areas of the Improvement Board. 

 

The Portfolio Management Office (PMO) is progressing well to plan the work of the Service 

for the coming months and years in relation to its projects, tasks and business as usual activity. 

The PMO will inform the Community Safety Annual Plan and has become a standing item at 

SLT. 

 

The draft Improvement Plan, which incorporates the HMICFRS gap analysis, review of internal 

audit work and Cultural Development Plan is making good progress.  Themes are already 

identifiable and these will form the basis of improvement linked to the PMO.   

 

Community Safety Team 

Firefighters are continuing to operate in a broader role to assist our communities. The driving 

and crewing of ambulances on behalf of South West Ambulance Service has continued. The 

Service has agreed to extend this provision further, which will now run until 26th August 2020. 

We are currently working through a request from South West Ambulance Service to move to 

Phase 2 in project, which will see our Firefighters working alongside a Paramedic, rather than 

an Emergency Care Assistant. This difference will enable the crews to be mobilised to higher 

acuity calls, thus offering a higher level of clinical care.  

Page 34



3 
 

 

The first phase of our recruitment campaign was completed during week commencing 8th 

June with sixteen members of our on call staff being successful in gaining full time positions 

with Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service. The second phase is due to start later in the 

summer, which will see us recruit from the public. 

 

Trading Standards 

As restrictions are lifted and more businesses are permitted to open, the demand on the 

Service, specifically in relation to the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (No 2) 

(England) Regulations 2020, reduces and we are looking to resume some of our more usual 

enforcement activities.  A review of the demand on the Service shows that since 23rd March, 

almost 25% of the issues raised with Trading Standards (TS) were COVID related. 

 

Service Risk Assessments have been drawn up and approved, including a COVID-19 Risk 

Assessment. This serves to mitigate disease risk whilst we resume lower risk visits, focussing 

on those that can be carried out in the open air.  Please note: the Food Standards Agency 

permission to suspend inspections during the COVID-19 pandemic remained in place for food 

retail premises but is being removed from the 17th July.  The national expectation on the 

Service is that we will resume inspections to premises producing food or animal feed from 17th 

July.  Both virtual and physical inspection methods will be required. 

 

Whilst the level of scam reporting has remained constant throughout the COVID-19 period, 

with the team continuing with reassurance calls via telephone, the number of rogue traders 

(doorstep crime) reports have tripled since travel restrictions were removed.  On average, 

there were 0.65/day when travel restrictions were in place and have increased on average to 

1.8/day since 1st June.  This supports the need for TS officers to resume physical visits and 

inspections for high-risk scenarios. 

 

The temporary suspension of Magistrates’ and Crown Courts remains a concern.  As previously 

identified, the backlog of cases is likely to have a disproportionate effect on TS capacity due 

to the frequency investigating officers will be removed from front line duties to attend court.  

Additionally, there is the risk that delays will result in larger investigation costs incurred by 

GCC and smaller penalties on conviction as cases appear ‘stale’.  

 

Coroners Services 

The Coroner Service is continuing to run its entire core functions from the Coroner Court at 

Barnwood, Gloucester, albeit with minimal staff on site at any one time.  Essential staff are 

working from home and are able to take death reports and forward these to the Senior 

Coroner.  Autopsies and body receipt/release are also continuing within the mortuary with 

enhanced PPE as directed by professional bodies. The Senior Coroner has relaxed expectations 

on internal examination to help ease pressures on staff and duty pathologists. All inquest 

activity was suspended in March and, following a risk assessment visit from GCC AMPS on the 

10th June, the Senior Coroner has considered those cases where public/witnesses need to 

attend and the Service continues to pursue the use of electronic methods of achieving this. 

Page 35



4 
 

The Service has also received guidance from the Chief Coroner Office regarding these public 

hearings. This guidance states that the Coroner Service should now be moving towards 

routinely hearing inquests again, but also highlights the importance of Coroners and their 

Local Authorities working together to ensure public hearings are managed in a safe manner. 

There are still no dates arranged locally for the larger inquests or those where juries are 

required as a slowly ‘start small’ approach is employed. 

 

Civil Protection Team 

Operational Response – CPT continue to respond to COVID-19, supporting the GCC Public 

Health Team to write the Local Outbreak Management Response Plan and are assisting to 

facilitate exercise ‘Spanish Oak’, the virtual-live exercise to test the plan. The additional 

resource provides much needed capacity and resilience within the team and, in the longer-

term, staffing for the CPT Duty Officer Rota to enable a 24/7 point of contact and response 

that is being currently undertaken by just two staff.  New staff are due to commence the Duty 

Officer rota in August 2020.  CPT are also linking in with the multi-agency COVID-19 

Community Resilience Cell to look at building on the current increased interest in volunteering 

and potentially recruiting current COVID-19 volunteers to the Gloucestershire Emergency 

Support Team (GEST) scheme in the future. 

 

Service Level Agreements - Publica Group (Cotswold DC, Forest of Dean DC and West 

Oxfordshire DC), Cheltenham and Gloucester City have now all signed the twelve-month 

variation of the contract to extend Service Level Agreements, with Tewkesbury giving verbal 

agreement, pending sign-off. Work programmes with the districts, as per the SLA’s, have 

restarted and a meeting with the District Emergency Planning Liaison Officers was held to 

discuss reception centre arrangements and operation requirements to adhere to COVID–19 

restrictions. 

 

Business Continuity Management - Additional staff in the team has enabled a dedicated Civil 

Protection Officer to drive the BCM Improvement Programme. The BCM Improvement 

Programme has re-started and a meeting of the BCM Assurance Board (BCMAB) has been set 

for early August to cement the Improvement Project Plan, policy & framework and group 

membership.  

 

GCC Response Teams - GCC’s emergency response structure and arrangements will be 

reviewed and consulted on because of the lessons learned from the council’s COVID-19 

response.  Additional staff resources within CPT has allowed for increased engagement and 

an extensive training programme to be implemented across all levels of response including 

response teams, Executive On Call Officers and Elected Members.  

 

Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers 

Vehicle Disposals 

 

Report end 

Page 36



Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers 

 

 

Decision to be taken by: Colin Chick and Wayne Bowcock 

 
 

Report title: Vehicle disposals 

 
 

The decision i) To undertake a competitive procurement process, under lot 1 of the 
North Yorkshire Vehicle Disposal Framework (Reference No: 1174-2015), 
the purpose of awarding  a three year contract for the supply of disposal 
services in respect of roadworthy emergency vehicles, and to award such 
contract to the successful tenderer.  Such contract shall include an 
option to extend its term by a period not exceeding two years 

 

ii)  To undertake a competitive procurement process, under lot 1 of the 
North Yorkshire Vehicle Disposal Framework (Reference No: 1174-2015), 
the purpose of awarding  a three year contract for the supply of disposal 
services in respect of roadworthy non-emergency council vehicles, and 
to award such contract to the successful tenderer.  Such contract shall 
include an option to extend its term by a period not exceeding two years 

 

Background  
documents 

Independent Internal Audit Investigations – Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) – 12th October 2018 

Reasons for  
the decision 

The Council is addressing the issues raised in the Audit report regarding 
the disposal of assets.  The procurement proposal set out in this paper is 
designed, in conjunction with the new Council disposals process being 
developed by The Council’s Finance team, to address the matter of 
disposing of vehicles that are no longer required by GCC or GFRS. It will 
provide a straightforward, compliant and transparent process for 
managing vehicle disposals and achieving best value for money for the 
Council. Currently the Council has ad hoc arrangements to cover the 
disposal of assets.  In line with Council Standing Orders and Audit 
recommendations, these arrangements now need to be regularised and 
a formal documented Policy and process published.   

The proposed procurement of the two contracts described in this report 
will enable a transparent and fair disposal process to be adopted in 
respect of all GCC owned vehicles.  It is proposed that, once the two new 
contracts described in this report have been awarded, officers will 
produce a detailed step-by-step guidance on the required process for 
Asset disposal following which a copy of such guidance shall be published 
on Staffnet to support the council’s revised Disposals policy. 

It is proposed that the new process will also replace internal competitive 
bidding (which sometimes occurs at present), which has proved to be 

Page 37



resource intensive and has formed part of the Internal Audit scrutiny. In 
future any service areas who wish to purchase a surplus vehicle will be 
informed of the auction and vehicle details and will be required to place 
bids via the external auction process. 

Resource 
implications 

The proposed disposal services contracts will result in income generation 
for the council.  GFRS anticipates that it will sell up to £40K worth of 
emergency and non emergency vehicles per annum using the proposed 
new contracts, while GCC’s Integrated Transport Unit anticipates that it 
will sell up to £10K worth of non-emergency vehicles per annum 
(totalling  up to £250,000) over the 5 year term of the proposed two 
contracts. 

Who has been  
consulted? 

 

 Strategic Procurement  

 Legal

 Finance

 GFRS

 ITU

 

What were their comments? 

GCC Procurement view is that is it wholly appropriate to conduct a further competition via the North 
Yorkshire framework as it will allow minimal resource impact for GFRS & ITU, conducting a further 
competition for the provision of this service in order to achieve value for money and compliance for 
procurement goods, services and works. 

GCC ITU department were asked to review the ITT pack and comments and considerations were fully 
taken into account and amendments were made where appropriate, ITU fully approve of the further 
competition. 

GFRS workshop department were asked to review the ITT pack and comments and considerations 
were fully taken into account and amendments were made where appropriate, GFRS workshops fully 
approve of the further competition. 

Legal Services were satisfied that the procurement route described in this paper is public 
procurement law compliant provided it is carried out in accordance with the rules of the relevant 
framework agreement. GCC Strategic finance understand the urgent need for a disposal process and 
have been working closely with procurement to ensure legal compliance. 

Background/Context 

The Council has a fleet of vehicles managed by Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) and its 
Integrated Transport Unit (ITU). In line with recent Audit recommendations a legally compliant 
process is required to dispose of vehicles. The Council may choose to dispose of vehicles which are          
(a) still roadworthy and have an MOT; or (b) no longer roadworthy and should therefore be sold for 
scrap value only.  This decision paper relates to the disposal by the council (including GFRS) of 
roadworthy vehicles. 

Currently both ITU and GFRS dispose of vehicles in an ad hoc fashion with no overarching contracts in 
place.  Following on from the recent Audit report an asset disposal process and vehicle fleet policy is 
being developed and this procurement will support this. 

Page 38



The Council has approx. 92 vehicles (correct at 03/03/20) in its fleet and need a compliant route to 
market for the Disposal of Vehicles that are no longer required or have reached the end of their life. 

A separate Procurement exercise will be undertaken later on in the year for the scrapping of vehicles 
and equipment. 

The contracts to be procured will enable disposal of vehicles across the whole of GCC including in 
particular, GFRS and ITU. This mini competition is expected to deliver the following benefits: 

 

• Providing all GCC & GFRS users with an easily accessible, single source and cost effective 
means of procuring vehicle disposal by auction  

• Achievement of better value for money through the new contracts by aggregating the     
potential demand across the whole of GCC over a number oy years.;   

• Promoting sustainability when disposing of vehicles; 

• Ensuring traceability and transparency when disposing of vehicles. 

 

 

Alternative options considered and why they were rejected 

Full Open tender – Suitable for a wide range of procurements.  This tendering option provides for an 
open competition with all potential suppliers in the market. All bidders may apply and must be 
evaluated; potential for the evaluation stage to be resource intensive if a large number of bids are 
submitted although the procurement timeline can be shorter overall. Do Nothing –Internal Audit (IA) 
carried out an extensive investigation that included the review of relevant policies, practices, systems 
and processes, testing the adequacy of those procedures against the requirements of the Council’s 
Constitution and policies and undertook a suite of audit interviews with key officers involved in the 
disposal of a vehicle which was the subject of a whistle-blower complaint. IA recommended reviewing 
the effectiveness of the governance arrangements, including the decision making processes, for the 
disposal and/or transfer of the GFRS’s surplus vehicles, seeking advice from GCC as necessary. The 
proposal to procure contracts for the disposal of vehicles is an output of that review. 

 

Risk Analysis 

Having been the subject of an internal Audit investigation it is not an option to carry on disposing of 
vehicles under ad hoc arrangements. 

The proposed procurement will enable the Council to minimise future risks with vehicle disposal by 
putting in place a contracts that underpin a compliant and transparent vehicle disposals process in 
future. 

 

Equalities considerations 

N/A 

 

 

 

Page 39



Has a Due Regard Statement been completed? No 

A due regard statement has not been prepared, but consideration of the likely equalities 
impact of the recommended option indicated that there is no disproportionate effect on 
persons within the protected characteristics groups given that apprenticeships with be open to 
all groups of staff.  Both permanent and fixed term staff will have access to the 
apprenticeship.   

If ‘Yes’, please attached the signed Due Regard Statement. 

Has any conflict of interest been declared by 
any Cabinet Member consulted on the 
decision? 

The council’s Monitoring Officer should be 
consulted, in the first instance, if any conflict of 
interest is declared by a Cabinet Member.  

 

If any conflict of interest declared, was a 
dispensation granted by the Audit and 
Governance Committee of the Council? 

No 

 

 

 

 

Date of dispensation: 

Does this decision report form or any 
supporting papers provided contain 
confidential or exempt information?   

 (Refer to Democratic Services Unit for advice if 
necessary) 

Yes Independent Internal Audit Investigations 
– Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
(GFRS) – 12th October 2018If Yes, please 

provide details of document(s) that are 
confidential or exempt 

Does this decision need to be published on 
the GCC website? 

(Refer to guidance on “Executive Decisions 
taken by Officers”). 

Yes 

Page 40



 
In coming to this decision I have given due and full regard to the requirements of the Public 
Sector Equality Duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (“the Act”) by 
reference to the law itself and also the relevant Due Regard Statement, which was/were 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Act.  
 
Having fully considered all available information, I have decided to reject any alternative 
options and take the recommended decision(s), for the reasons set out in this report.  

Signed 

 

Colin Chick 

Director of Economy, Environmental & Infrastructure  

 

 

 

Signed 

 

Wayne Bowcock 

Chief Fire Officer  

 

 

Date 07.08.2020 

 

Contact details for further information: 

Officer: Shak Miah 

Tel: 01452 324331 

Email: Shak.miah@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 41



 

P
age 42



1

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 8



2

P
age 44



3

P
age 45



4

P
age 46



5

P
age 47



6

P
age 48



7

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee - Work Plan 2020/21

8 September 2020         10 November 2020 28 January 2021 

· Quarter 1 2020/21 Performance Report
· Report on COVID-19 testing in care 

homes and amongst domiciliary care 
workers (Margaret Willcox)

· Report on the COVID-19 Dashboard 
(Sarah Scott)

Standard items 

· Director Adult Social Care Report
· Chief Fire Officer Report
· Director Public Health report (including 

Homelessness)

· Public Health Annual Report - Domestic 
Abuse (Sarah Scott) (TBC)

· Long term viability of care homes and 
domiciliary care providers (Margaret 
Willcox)

· Quarter 2 2020/21 Performance Report

Standard items 

· Director Adult Social Care Report
· Chief Fire Officer Report
· Director Public Health report 

Standard items 

· Director Adult Social Care Report
· Chief Fire Officer Report
· Director Public Health report

16 March 2021 29 June 2021 6 July 2021

 Road Safety Cabinet Panel Report - Cllr 
Dave Norman (TBC)

 Quarter 3 2020/21 Performance Report

Standard items 

 Director Adult Social Care Report
 Chief Fire Officer Report
 Director Public Health report

Standard items 

· Director Adult Social Care Report
· Chief Fire Officer Report
· Director Public Health report

 Quarter 4 2020/21 Performance Report

Standard items 

· Director Adult Social Care Report
· Chief Fire Officer Report
· Director Public Health report

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 9



Future Items 

1 Draft IRMP 2021-2024 (GFRS) Autumn 2020 9 The role of Community Connectors in 
tackling loneliness and social 
isolation

2 Trading Standards - The impact of 
Brexit on capacity

Autumn/ Winter 
2020

10 Coronavirus – impact, effectiveness of 
response, lessons learned 
(presentations by Public Health, Adult 
Social Care and GFRS)

Winter 2020/21

3 Digital Innovation Fund and Thriving 
Communities Grant (Di Billingham) Workshops, visits and joint meetings

4 Merger of NHS 2gether and care 
services – impact on adult social care

1 Joint meeting on Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Annually -  to be 
arranged

5 NHS Discharges from a GCC 
perspective (Margaret Willcox)

2 Joint work with CFOSC on Transitions 
Strategy (Wendy Williams)

Winter 2020/21

6 Adult Single Programme (Mark 
Branton)

3 Mental Health Workshop

7 Support for carers 4 Visit to Gloucestershire Coroner’s 
Court  

8 Update on the Marmot Review 
(including data on life expectancy 
within the County, divided by district, 
highlighting where it has gone up or 
down)

Autumn 2020 5 Performance Workshop – to help 
understanding of performance reports 
and shape them moving forward

P
age 52


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 COVID-19 Testing in Care Homes
	Appendix 1 Table of spend ICF
	Appendix 2 Routes for Coronavirus testing in adult social care in England

	5 Executive Director of Adult Social Care Report
	6 Director of Public Health Report
	7 Chief Fire Officer Report
	Exec Decision re Disposal of Vehicles FINAL WB Comments

	8 Performance Report - Quarter 1 2020/21
	9 Work Plan

